Roots of recovery: Occupational therapy at the heart of health equity



RC Royal College of Occupational Therapists

About the publisher

The Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the British Association of Occupational Therapists (BAOT) and operates as a registered charity. It represents the profession nationally and internationally, and contributes widely to policy consultations throughout the UK. RCOT sets the professional and educational standards for occupational therapy, providing leadership, guidance and information relating to research and development, education, practice and lifelong learning. In addition, 10 accredited specialist sections support expert clinical practice.

For more publications and free downloads please visit **rcot.co.uk/publications**

Roots of recovery: Occupational therapy at the heart of health equity



First published in the UK in 2021 by the Royal College of Occupational Therapists available in html only https://www.rcot.co.uk/roots-of-recovery-occupational-therapy-health-equity?

This edition published in 2022 by the Royal College of Occupational Therapists 106–114 Borough High Street London SE1 1LB **www.rcot.co.uk**

The Royal College of Occupational Therapists rebranded in 2022. This publication was reprinted in February 2022 to reflect the new branding, but all other content remains unchanged

Copyright © Royal College of Occupational Therapists

Author(s): Royal College of Occupational Therapists

All rights reserved, including translation. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, by any form or any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise without the prior permission in writing of the Royal College of Occupational Therapists, unless otherwise agreed or indicated. Copying is not permitted except for personal and internal use, to the extent permitted by national copyright law, or under the terms of a licence issued by the relevant national reproduction rights organisation (such as the Copyright Licensing Agency in the UK). Requests for permission for other kinds of copying, such as copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for creating new collective works, or for resale, should be addressed to the RCOT Publications Manager.

Other enquiries about this document should be addressed to the Policy and Public Affairs team at public.affairs@rcot.co.uk

British library cataloguing in Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Whilst every effort is made to ensure accuracy, the Royal College of Occupational Therapists shall not be liable for any loss or damage either directly or indirectly resulting from the use of this publication.

ISBN 978-1-913496-06-7

Digitally printed on demand in Great Britain by The Lavenham Press, Suffolk



Contents

Foreword	2
Call to action and key recommendations	3
Introduction	6
Primary care	9
Housing	13
Children, young people and families	17
Community rehabilitation	21
Community mental health	25
Criminal justice system	29
Conclusion	31
Contributors	32
References	32

Foreword

As we begin to emerge from the pandemic, there seems to be growing awareness of the scourge that health inequity visits upon our society. But health inequality, which had grown in the decade from 2010, has deteriorated further in recent months. The task before us is urgent, and it is serious.

It is not that health inequality is a new phenomenon. Its causes, which have their origins across the social determinants of health, have been long understood. They are multifaceted and cannot be addressed through health and social care alone. But we must play our part.

There is considerable work going on to understand how health inequality is exacerbated by other structural imbalances, to measure its impact and to recommend solutions. That is useful for three reasons: first, the better we understand, the more effective we can be. Second, shifts in technology may mean shifts in who is excluded. We need to know how the landscape is changing. Third, the greater the spotlight that is directed onto this area, the harder it is for politicians to ignore it.

But our health and social care systems are dealing with huge imbalances between demand for care and our ability to supply it. It can be difficult for local managers to take an eye away from the day-to-day of waiting lists and workforce shortages and widen their lens. Paradoxically, this is a time both of great change and little time in which to design that change.

That is why we have taken a different approach in this report. It seeks less to make the case against health inequalities than to set out



practical ways in which decision-makers and system designers can use the skills offered by occupational therapy to make better use of existing resources.

Since I joined the Royal College of Occupational Therapists (RCOT) six months ago I have been struck by the passion, breadth of expertise and reach of occupational therapists. Occupational therapy is centred on people's day to day living - what they want and need to do and where and how they live. The profession thinks beyond health and focuses on the wider social determinants, making occupational therapists key players in rethinking how and where we deliver health and social care.

RCOT is asking members – who see health inequalities daily – what support and tools they need. Over the next 12 months we will work with our fellow professionals to co-create and deliver a plan of action which includes sharing examples of good practice and learning.

We hope that this report will be a useful tool for health and social care colleagues as we seek to limit, and then reduce, the health inequalities which afflict our nation.

Stee Level

Steve Ford

Chief Executive, Royal College of Occupational Therapists



Occupational therapists have a valuable role to play in building individual and community health and wellbeing, improving and establishing equity of health and health outcomes through engagement in healthy occupations, education and work, and access to wellbeing and independence through primary care, rehabilitation in the community and suitable housing.

In this time of rebuilding, when there is the impetus of need, there is an opportunity and a momentum for national and local re-engineering of structures and funding. This report gives examples of where occupational therapy can be organised to effectively address health inequalities. Decision-makers are urged to engage with local occupational therapy services, and through them with local communities, to co-design and co-produce services that are truly accessible and responsive, so that services and workforces are best shaped and placed to achieve the most effective outcomes for those most in need.

Key recommendations

for effective deployment of the occupational therapy:

Awareness

Cohesive and systemic planning

It is vital that organisations and services do not plan or work in isolation, but take a joinedup approach to analysing, planning and meeting needs - a universal response. This includes involvement of the voluntary sector. Along with health, consideration needs to be given to the environment, healthy homes, work, education, and healthy occupations. Occupational therapists should be at the table to provide this strategic perspective.

A joined-up approach requires the sharing of information across services and systems, supporting safe and effective service provision, enabling occupational therapists to use resources sustainably, reducing repetition of data gathering, assessments and any overlap of services. Advanced and senior occupational therapists must have scope within their roles to work with their counterparts across sectors to agree actions to minimise duplication and ensure effective use of knowledge and resources

Action

2

Designing inclusive services

For healthy and sustainable communities to develop, those communities must be understood and involved. Services and workforces need to reflect and be shaped by the culture of the communities that they serve, with a shared understanding of the desired outcomes for the community and the service.

RCOT are working with the education sector to attract and support people into the profession from a range of backgrounds that reflect diversity within the UK.¹

Advanced and senior occupational therapists must have scope and objectives within their roles to work with public and patient contributors and groups to co-design how services are accessed, delivered and evaluated.

3

Needs-led and place/localities-based services

Health needs and inequalities are greatest in particular places and in the groups who live there.² Any response needs to be shaped and located accordingly, drawing organisations together with a shared understanding of the needs and wishes of the local population.

Occupational therapy should be targeted where it has the greatest impact; locating occupational therapists with the right knowledge, understanding and skills where they can be accessible and effective:

- Where they can advise at planning and design level housing and community rehabilitation.
- Where they can provide early interventions in primary care and community services.
- Where they can enable and support education in schools, colleges, and universities.
- Where they can support people to be in, stay in and return to work, through primary care, occupational health and rehabilitation services.
- In training and advisory roles, for example, to social prescribers, housing providers, care homes and domiciliary agencies.

4

Fair access

For people to access occupational therapy expertise on an equitable basis there needs to be a flexibility and fluidity of access.

Access needs to be open, appropriate and fair to population groups who have been known to experience reduced access to, and satisfaction with, health and care services e.g., those in economically deprived communities, BAME groups, LGBTQIA+ groups. This may also include people who find it physically difficult to attend appointments and access local community resources. Occupational therapy is still predominantly accessed through secondary and tertiary services and tends to focus on individuals, rather than on populations. Access to occupational therapy services needs to be early and easy, across the lifespan, preventing the development of long-term difficulties and addressing some of the wider social determinants of health. Services should be both universal across all aspects of life, and targeted - shaped and placed according to the needs of local population groups.

In some areas people can self-refer to social care, community mental health and rehabilitation services. They can directly access the right expertise when needed, but for this to be inclusive services need to proactively identify local population groups that are not currently reflected on caseloads, then work with them to co-create access points and services that accommodate their requirements and preferences.

Advocacy

Ongoing research

There is a significant amount of anecdotal evidence regarding work done by Allied Health Professionals (AHPs) to reduce health inequalities and influence the social determinants of health. More research is needed to quantify the breadth of impact of AHPs on health inequalities.³ When considering how to re-shape and refocus activity to bring about change, planners and decision-makers need to consider what data would best inform them of service effectiveness and their positive impact.

Data needs to demonstrate when communities that are underserved by health and care services are being reached. National outcome-based data collection (rather than output-based) should evidence the impact services have on addressing access to and remaining in education and work, access to appropriate housing and self-management of health.

Introduction

The health of the population is not just a matter of how well the health service is funded and functions, important as that is: health is closely linked to the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age and inequities in power, and resources – the social determinants of health.⁴

Occupational therapists are unique in that they already work across organisations in health and social care, housing, criminal justice, employment, education, and the voluntary sector. Although there is currently limited published evidence of occupational therapists and other allied health professions directly reducing health inequalities, this report explains how decision-makers can create change by using the knowledge and skills of the occupational therapy profession to deliver measurable change. For those who design or manage services, it provides practical recommendations that have the potential to encourage better use of resources for improved outcomes, supported by examples of where occupational therapists are already making a difference.

As the UK recovers from the COVID-19 pandemic it is people who have been disadvantaged by social and economic factors that have been hardest hit.⁵ Health inequalities in the UK have steadily risen over the last decade² and they have been magnified by the pandemic. The crisis vividly exposed how our vulnerability varies hugely, determined by a complex web of existing inequalities, across genders, age groups, races, income levels, social classes, and locations. People with long term conditions, disabilities and those shielding have also experienced reduced access to health and social care services as these were reprioritised to manage the COVID-19 demands.⁶

Governments and organisations across the UK and beyond have recognised these inequalities and have made recommendations^{7,8,9,10,11,12} but implementation is complex and multi-faceted. Health and social care providers need to balance need with access to service provision whilst managing existing waiting lists, staff burnout and the risk of losing public support as they seek to re-establish services for illnesses not related to COVID-19.¹³

Given these mounting pressures and competing demands on the public purse, addressing health inequalities and their causes may not be seen as an immediate priority by health and social care providers, or the complexity of tackling these societal issues and the range of organisations required to work together to do so may put health inequalities in the 'too difficult' pile.

For occupational therapy personnel in all sectors, this is a time to challenge the more traditional structures and processes of service provision, to lead on innovation and to demonstrate the unique approach, skills and value of the profession.

For economic, justice and human rights reasons, reducing health inequalities should be a priority, and now is the time to act. This report focuses on two existing assets for delivering change: the occupational therapy profession and existing services. Both assets can be refocused and adjusted following consultation with/working in partnership with local communities and those affected by health inequalities, redirecting thinking and resources to where they will be most effective. Timely intervention in the community can prevent increases in long-term health and care costs, and early intervention in areas such as education, employment and housing can create routes out of poverty, ill health, and lower mortality.

Addressing health inequalities – why now?

Everyone, regardless of who they are and where they come from, has a right to health. This was first expressed in the 1946 Constitution of the World Health Organization (WHO), which defines health as 'a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity'.¹⁴

[Health inequalities occur] 'because of the unequal conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work and age, including the social determinants of health such as income, wealth, education, welfare, housing, and access to green space. Not only do these fundamental causes lead to disadvantage over the course of an individual's life', [but the accumulation also] of 'historical events determines the relative disadvantage of individuals, places and communities.¹⁵

As the UK nations recover and rebuild post COVID-19, we have a duty to reduce these social injustices, to create a healthier, fairer, more resilient society.^{16.17.18.19.20.21.22} This can only be achieved through governments tackling the root causes of poor health by investing in jobs, housing, education and communities and working closely with the statutory, third and private sectors. Furthermore, it is vital that equality and human rights considerations are incorporated into the policy response to the pandemic.¹⁴

Dimensions of inequality often overlap and reinforce each other. This has been seen in the communities most affected by the impact of COVID-19. These include those in Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups (BAME), people who are homeless, migrants, gypsy Roma and traveller communities, children from disadvantaged backgrounds, children with additional learning needs and people who are digitally excluded.^{23,24,25} This is amplified by factors such as location, multi-occupancy housing, occupations with high social contact, frequent use of public transport, protected characteristics²⁶ and pre-existing health conditions. As the risk factors accumulate. people fall into a combination of categories,²⁷ leading to much higher rates of mortality.²

Health inequalities disproportionately impact on these groups of people living in particular areas or places.

To address these complex and interwoven factors requires a targeted and tailored response that is place-based, shaped and led by local need. Those who design or manage services need to engage with those communities most affected in a rebuilding process, taking into consideration the multiple factors that influence their wellbeing, using asset-based approaches, ensuring that services are responsive to the needs, culture, and norms of the community as defined by the community itself.^{23,24,25,28,29,30}

The costs of responding to the COVID-19 pandemic have been huge, with debt now standing at nearly 100 per cent of GDP. Public sector net borrowing (PSNB) was 14.5 per cent of GDP in 2020–21, the highest since the Second World War, and a five-fold increase on 2019–20.²²

The multiple calls for rebuilding funding may find the public purse empty - or severely limited. With clear evidence that health inequalities are consistently increasing, can society and our health and social care systems afford for this to continue? We need to consider the benefit of investment to reduce health inequalities and the social determinants of health now to gain longterm financial and social wellbeing and stability.

In the context of high demand and limited resources, decision-makers can look at cost-effective changes. This report gives recommendations for shaping and investing in existing occupational therapy services, enabling early intervention for increased returns in terms of improved health, social and long-term economic outcomes.

Mobilising existing assets

The most important contributors to a life in good health, including mental health, are to have a job that provides a sufficient income, a decent and safe home and a support network. More simply put – a job, a home and a friend.³¹

There are 41,315 occupational therapists registered with the UK Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). With unique expertise in mental and physical health and an understanding of environmental and social factors, occupational therapists are found in roles across and beyond the health and social care systems.

As allied health professionals (AHPs) they have a substantial part to play in addressing inequalities and much is already being done.³² With a strategic focus on the social determinants of health and combating health inequalities, they contribute to public health through interventions affecting the physical, mental and social wellbeing of individuals, communities and populations.³³ The Kings Fund's AHP Framework on tackling health Inequalities outlines how practitioners can make a difference through an approach of awareness, action and advocacy at an individual, team and service level.³⁴ Within this approach occupational therapy works across the domains of a person (P), their occupations (O) and their environments (E) at all stages of a lifespan ideally placing the profession in a position to address work, housing, education and social isolation. Increasingly occupational therapists work in primary care and community settings, such as local authorities, schools and community mental health services.

Across the UK occupational therapists:

- Reduce the impact of existing inequalities on people's health outcomes and life expectancies by increasing their ability to access and participate in meaningful, productive occupations across their lifespan.³³
- Intervene early to prevent a deterioration of circumstances, thereby maintaining or increasing independence e.g. falls prevention.³⁵
- Increase healthy life expectancy and quality of life through implementing public health approaches that reduce the risks of people developing preventable illnesses/disabilities.³⁵

Occupational therapists have significant experience working with populations affected by health inequalities, including people with characteristics protected under the Equality Act 2010²⁶ and people from inclusion health groups. This is the time to recognise and develop this role within existing services.

- Provide the right information and tools for people with pre-existing long-term conditions to self-manage their health problems and ensure they live well.
- Promote and enable environments that support independence, choice, health and wellbeing.³⁵
- Enable access to education and employment – two recognised routes out of poverty.³⁶

A selection of these settings is used below to illustrate how occupational therapy services may be organised to optimise positive outcomes for service providers and those who use them.

Primary care



⁴⁴Long COVID is now causing increased disability threatening people's abilities to work and function... early upstream access to OT support in primary care has never been more needed.⁷⁷ GP, NHS Lanarkshire.

Primary care has a core role in tackling the causes and consequences of health inequalities. It is uniquely positioned in the heart of many communities and is the trusted first point of contact for medical and social needs.³⁷ GP appointments make up 90 per cent of the public's contact with healthcare professionals, providing a prime opportunity to reduce or minimise health inequalities.³⁸ It is crucial to understand the local population that the GP surgery or primary care area includes. Then, building on this knowledge, to enhance the skill mix in primary care to target and tackle local inequalities.³⁹

Across the UK, there is an expansion of occupational therapy roles in primary care to meet the increasing complexity of need that frequently requires more than a medical approach at a much earlier stage than secondary care. Occupational therapists are bringing their comprehensive understanding of why people, groups and communities are not able to engage in occupations that have health benefits. This includes identifying stigmatised and segregated groups that are at risk of exclusion from purposeful or chosen occupations.

Occupational therapists deliver communitybased interventions, shaped around the needs and culture of the population, that prevent, maintain and improve recovery and occupational participation. This includes working with and empowering people, groups and communities to actively promote and manage their own health.⁴⁰





Often occupational therapists see people who struggle to access, or benefit from, the existing primary care services of medicine, social prescribing and talking therapies but do not need referral to secondary care services. People may have higher degrees of complexity and undifferentiated diagnoses, where the presenting problem is not clear, but they have indicators which suggest serious underlying social or medical risk.⁴¹ An occupational therapist will work with them to make measurable changes in their everyday lives, so they are more active and able to look after themselves safely and effectively, to manage their home and access employment.

Work provides an income, benefits the family and society, and supports the economy. It is also an essential occupation to support longevity, health and wellbeing.⁴² Parental unemployment, for instance, is associated with poorer academic attainment in children.⁴³ The GP is usually the first point of contact when someone's health condition begins to affect their ability to work. Occupational therapists can support GPs with making judgements on fitness to work using the AHP Health and work report.⁴⁴ This provides recommendations in highly-specific terms about work ability, which GPs, employers and occupational health departments can implement to keep a person in work. Besides giving a detailed assessment of individual capacity and workplace requirements, occupational therapists can teach the person to manage any ongoing condition(s) and related symptoms such as pain

and fatigue and deliver rehabilitation through agreed goals with the employee and employer.

Case study

Occupational therapy in primary care in North Wales, Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol/Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board

Awareness

The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated the impact of already existing health inequalities in North Wales. Between 2017 and 2020 Wales had one of the highest populations of people living in poverty, with associated higher levels of health inequalities.

The protracted lockdowns led to an increase in loneliness, isolation, substance misuse and domestic violence, particularly for those who were shielding. This resulted in an increase in the need for urgent mental health support in primary care, backed by evidence from various sources, including the Population Needs Assessment for North Wales which clearly indicates that the number of patients with mental health problems is increasing.⁴⁵

Action

Early in the first lockdown, the occupational therapy service in North Wales proactively acted to support primary care, reaching out to those who were shielding. This quickly grew into supporting individuals presenting at primary care with common mental health concerns.

From this, a co-production project developed, linking occupational therapy services with the I CAN programme – an established programme led by mental health services across North Wales offering drop-in community spaces, unlimited intensive employment support and volunteering opportunities, with an enhanced offer back to volunteers of support, supervision and reflective practice.

I CAN Primary Care was piloted with the occupational therapists completing assessments as an alternative to GPs, offering occupationfocused interventions and linking into local resources, including I CAN hubs. There were no restrictive eligibility criteria for access and the service was extremely responsive.

Advocacy

The I CAN programme offers easier, earlier access to prevent and mitigate health inequalities, practical help, and a focus on opportunities for people to get active again in their everyday lives.

Outcomes

An early evaluation of the programme demonstrated that:

- Occupational therapists offered selfmanagement interventions in 76 per cent of cases, compared with five per cent offered by the GP.
- In 67 per cent of cases, GP appointment/s were avoided, either because an occupational therapist was able to complete the appointment or because follow-up appointments were not needed.
- In 26 per cent of cases, a referral to the community mental health team was avoided.

Over a five-month period, working one day per week in the project, the occupational therapists saw 386 patients. The projected average cost-saving per person who saw an occupational therapist was £327.59.

⁴⁴ Whilst this has of course assisted in relieving the GP workload, [the occupational therapists] have given care GPs could not have provided. They have had support from our clinical team where necessary, and we have all benefitted from case discussions and reviews. However, their contribution has been very significant, particularly where they have enabled patients to manage anxiety and avoid medicalising it or indeed avoided medication, by using strategies I as a GP could not offer.³¹ GP ⁴⁶



⁴⁴ I was a mess. Thanks to her [the occupational therapist], my life is back on track.⁷⁷ Patient

Key elements to maximise impact

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

- Act as first contact practitioners in primary care, so people can initially self-refer before having a diagnosis, and can be directly triaged to the most appropriate services, e.g. mental health, frailty and falls, requests for GP fit notes.
- Collaborate with people living with a range of health problems and chronic conditions, to overcome barriers so that they can participate in the occupations of life and improve their health and wellbeing.
- Identify those people and groups who may be isolated or underserved by services and who therefore may not access occupations, activities or services, and then advocate between primary care staff and these people and communities to increase engagement in services and occupations that have health benefits.
- Work in partnership with communities, e.g. people experiencing homelessness, asylum seekers and traveller communities, to design services that are accessible and

acceptable, reducing any marginalisation or stigmatisation, and building independence in health management.

 Identify early, and work with, those who are vulnerable to cumulative health and social risk factors, such as reduced functional ability and independence, loss of ability to cope and social isolation, work stress and sickness absence, and mental health crises.

Return on investment

- Occupational therapists, as advanced clinicians or first point of contact practitioners in primary care teams, can assess and intervene early before crisis occurs. GP patient contact costs £184 per hour (without qualification costs), compared with £120 for an advanced occupational therapist. ⁴⁷
- Public Health England has shown that moving a person from unemployment to work would save more than £12,000 per person over a one-year period.⁴⁸ For every £1 invested in work stress prevention, a saving to society of £2 is made over two years.⁴⁹
- Occupational therapists can work with people with multiple pathologies such as diabetes and frailty to improve independence and selfmanagement with safety, reducing demand and costs to primary and social care services.

Integrating occupational therapy into primary care offers a cost-effective solution that reduces pressure on GPs, reduces referral to secondary care, enhances timely hospital discharge, and keeps people independent at home.⁵⁰

> For every **£1** invested in work stress prevention, a saving to society of

£2 is made over two years

Housing



Observation shows that poor quality, unaffordable housing disproportionately impacts certain groups, including those from lower income households and people from minority ethnic backgrounds.⁵¹ Living in housing that is not fit for purpose increases the risk of a range of preventable health conditions, such as respiratory and cardiovascular diseases, as well as mental health conditions such as depression and anxiety.⁵² Conversely, safe and warm homes and good neighbourhoods improve physical and mental health and wellbeing and build strong communities.⁵³

There is a need to increase the supply of purpose-built accessible housing, but 80 per cent of the homes that we will live in by 2050 already exist.⁵⁴ Fewer than 10 per cent of homes in England have design features that make them 'visitable' by people with disabilities, whilst around 400,000 wheelchair users are living in homes that are unsuitable for them.⁵⁵ Nearly half (47 per cent) of disabled respondents to the UK Disability Survey reported having at least 'some difficulty' getting in and out of where they live.⁵⁶



Occupational therapists are integral to the provision of home adaptations. They have expertise in designing and adapting homes that can enable people to remain independent and safe, especially those with complex health and social care needs. Adapting people's existing homes enables them to remain within communities, which may be important in meeting their social, cultural and support needs. Home adaptations are valuable in overcoming environmental barriers arising not just from physical disabilities, but also from cognitive, neurodevelopmental, sensory and psychological needs.

Around two thirds of Disabled Facilities Grant applications are for people aged 60 and over.

With more than 90 per cent of older people living in mainstream housing, the implications of our ageing population on demand for adaptations is significant. As more people live for longer, often with multiple long-term health needs, it is important to take an integrated and holistic approach to housing needs, considering all the ways in which people's safety, independence, health and wellbeing are affected by their homes. This includes fire safety and security from crime.

Housing also affects children. Those living in poor or overcrowded conditions are more likely to have physical and mental health problems in the short and long term. There is also a long-term impact on children's life chances, with greater likelihood of lower educational attainment, unemployment and future poverty.⁵⁷ Recently, the need for home-schooling during the COVID-19 lockdowns, inevitably increased the education gap in children who did not have a suitable learning environment.

Everyone has the right to a home in which they can thrive. This belief closely aligns with the principles of occupational therapy. There are already housing departments and housing associations that benefit from employing or working in partnership with occupational therapists to provide expertise in designing and adapting homes to meet needs, increase independence and safety, and provide access.⁵⁷

Key elements to maximise impact

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

 Develop greater and more holistic understanding of people's needs among multidisciplinary colleagues involved in the delivery of home adaptations or home safety.

- Promote understanding and early consideration of building regulations related to ease of access, safety and use by the elderly and people with disabilities.
- Work with local planning departments and have a clear process for receiving proposals at the pre-planning or an early stage for input, comment and re-design, to ensure the best design, and reduce the need for compromise later.
- Provide expert information and advice, specifying home adaptations for people with complex health and support needs.
- Complete post-occupancy/post-adaptation audits and outcome measures to capture the impact of good design on individuals and their families, to inform planning and adaptation processes.

Return on investment

- Once developers and registered providers work with occupational therapists on a scheme, the learning can be applied to future projects, thus minimising occupational therapy involvement, saving time and money but still resulting in better homes.
- Accessible, warm, decent housing is a fundamental contributor to enabling people to remain living well and independently at home.⁵⁸ Integrating services across social care, housing and health can achieve this, preventing or delaying the need for further costly care and support services.
- Home adaptation has significant returns on investment in falls prevention with older people. Even non-serious falls that do not require medical or social intervention can affect peoples' lives, for example by causing increased anxiety, functional decline and social isolation. The 20 per cent of people whose fall is deemed serious may go on to Accident and Emergency, be admitted, then discharged to a care home or their own home with ongoing social care support, all incurring significant costs.⁵⁹
- The provision of home assessment and modification reduces the number of falls that require a hospital admission. For every £1 invested in providing assessment and modifications, £2.17 is saved in care costs

and the quality of life benefits are equivalent to ± 7.34 , indicating there is a positive return of ± 6.34 .⁶⁰

Case study

Re-housing wheelchair users in Tower Hamlets

Awareness

Tower Hamlets has one of the most diverse populations in the UK. The employment rate is below the national average, levels of poverty are high and there is an increasing need for inwork welfare support. Healthy life expectancy is below the national average and residents have a higher-than-average need for social care services.

Action

The Project 120 initiative was launched in 2012. Its intention was to rehouse all 120 of the wheelchair users then waiting for accessible housing, to accommodation that was built to meet their needs. Since then, over 290 wheelchair users and their families have been rehoused across the borough.

A team of five occupational therapists and one therapy assistant have expertise in accessible design and are skilled in identifying personcentred solutions to meet the occupational needs of people with complex health needs and disabilities.

The team works closely with developers, architects, the council's own affordable housing team and housing associations to ensure the right properties are built to the right specifications and people are moved into them quickly. They work with residents to ensure that their individual needs will be effectively supported by their home environment.

Advocacy

The local authority exceeds the requirements of the London Plan to ensure that at least 10 per cent of newbuild social housing is fully wheelchair accessible from the outset. The project has made savings for the council as the occupational therapy team contribute to designing lower cost wheelchair accessible properties instead of the council adapting less suitable properties, which is a more expensive process.⁶¹

Roots of recovery: Occupational therapy at the heart of health equity © RCOT 2021

Children, young people and families





Children learn through doing. The health and development of children and young people is significantly affected by the conditions in which they are born, live, learn and play. Children and young people at highest risk of poor health outcomes are those living in deprived areas,⁶² and unequal access to education has profound consequences for individuals and communities.

There is a strong correlation between educational attainment, physical and mental health and life expectancy, within and across generations. Similarly, there is a correlation between income, employment and quality of life^{9.63}

Marmot et al reported that 'inequalities experienced during school years have lifelong impacts – in terms of income, quality of work and a range of other social and economic outcomes including physical and mental health'.⁴ Factors associated with inequalities in educational attainment include economic disadvantage, ethnicity, disability, gender, and whether a young person has been in care or has special educational needs.⁶⁴

Occupational therapists can enable children, especially those most at risk of disadvantage, to develop skills and resilience to access education and realise their potential. They have the skills and expertise to:

- Identify the occupations that children or young people do well and those that they find difficult.
- Identify the personal, environmental and taskspecific factors that support or limit children's performance and participation.
- Recommend alternative approaches or techniques, teach new skills and suggest changes to equipment or the environment to support children's development, participation and achievement.⁶⁵

Occupational therapists address the needs of children and young people at home, in early years settings, in mainstream and special schools, and at college/university. Young people may require different levels of service provision at different times as their needs change.⁶⁶ Occupational therapy is delivered through a framework of universal, targeted and specialist interventions:

- Universal interventions provision of training, information and support to help parents/ carers and the children's workforce embed opportunities to promote physical and mental health into children's daily routines and activities, optimising their development, health and wellbeing.
- Targeted interventions delivered in partnership with families, educators and third sector organisations and working across traditional service boundaries to provide early intervention for children/young people whose development, health and wellbeing is at risk.
- Specialist interventions direct intervention with individuals with the most complex needs/circumstances, using a strength-based approach that fosters self-management and independence.

Key elements to maximise impact

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

- Support the early years workforce to develop foundation skills and resilience for learning into children's daily routines and activities.
- Build the capability of school staff to identify and address children's physical and mental health needs early, for example, inputting into undergraduate primary teachers' training.
- Identify the barriers that prevent or enable children/young people to access full time education, including identifying unrecognised additional needs and trauma and organisational/systemic barriers affecting school attendance/exclusion.
- Work with families and carers to develop and support children's development, learning, healthy occupations and independence.
- Work across traditional service boundaries to address physical, social and mental health needs that impact on learning.

 Support students with physical, learning and/or mental health needs in further/higher education to complete their courses and realise their potential.

Return on investment

- There is a graded relationship between level of educational qualifications and health. Adults with higher educational attainments have better health and lifespans. Better education for parents also improves health outcomes for their children.⁶⁴
- Unemployment rates are higher for adults with few or no qualifications and skills.⁶³ Better educational outcomes open doors to better employment, income and living standards, along with behaviours and health, thereby benefiting communities and the economy.
- A review on school exclusions by Timpson⁶⁷ highlighted that excluded pupils often have significantly lower levels of attainment at GCSE level, which can lead to poorer economic outcomes. The report also highlighted some evidence that school exclusion is a factor in participating in or being a victim of crime. In 2014, 23 per cent of those sentenced to fewer than 12 months in custody had been permanently excluded from school.⁶⁸
- Continuing in education after leaving school is associated with living a longer, healthier life. In 2014 it was demonstrated that every additional four years in education return £7.20 in the value of health and other outcomes for every £1 spent.⁶⁹

Case study

Paediatric occupational therapy, Swansea Bay University Health Board

Awareness

A waiting list existed for children and young people's occupational therapy in Swansea Bay Health Board. The service redesigned practices across local authorities to have a single method of working; this included training clinicians with new skills to identify and clinically reason those most in need, changing systems to create a more flexible workforce and work more prudently and preventatively supporting an increased amount of children and young people and their families, whilst being more accessible.

Training and groups for teachers and parents were developed to equip them with skills to support children. An occupational therapist was available to teachers and parents post-training to further empower them. This reduced waiting times from 45 weeks to seven weeks. Referrals to the service also decreased because of the ability to carry out preventative work. Patient-related outcomes improved – measured by patient-reported experience and outcome measures (PREMs and PROMs).

The restrictions of COVID-19 caused escalating needs with a significantly higher number of families faced with reduced support networks, enforced home-schooling and many other barriers to wellness.

Actions

When restrictions were put in place 'Parenting in a Pandemic' was developed, offering an accessible virtual intervention group facilitated by the service. Parents of school-aged children come together online to explore and share the challenges of managing their child's behaviours and emotional needs. The session content is co-produced with parents. The emphasis is on creating a supportive, needs-led network where strategies, resources and advice are shared, and sustainable support maintained. Being online reduces barriers, such as the cost of travel and the need for childcare. Parents without access to suitable technology were supported by schools or IT Wales.

> every additional four years in education return £7.20 in the value of health and other outcomes for every £1 spent.



Advocacy

Outcomes:

- Being online has increased the accessibility of services, with a greater proportion of the population supported.
- Working across sectors ensures the programme is sustainable.
- There has been 0 per cent dropout from virtual parenting groups.
- 100% of families were extremely confident or somewhat confident that the programme and advice given has improved family life.

⁴⁴ These sessions were amazing and real... No textbook, and how the occupational therapist came back with answers from the top of their head, that's 10/10 for myself, they understood us parents and supported us.⁷⁷ Parent participant.

Working across primary care, secondary care, education, the third sector and involving parents enabled the development of a transferrable, sustainable project, evidenced by excellent patient outcomes. The project is now running with funding from two GP clusters across Neath.

Community rehabilitation



The World Health Organization has defined rehabilitation as 'a set of measures that assist individuals who experience, or are likely to experience, disability to achieve and maintain optimal functioning in interaction with their environments'.⁷⁰ Article 26, Habilitation and Rehabilitation, of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) calls for 'full inclusion and participation in all aspects of life'.⁷¹

Rehabilitation has far-reaching health, social and economic benefits. It delivers better outcomes and improved quality of life, improving functional outcomes, reducing length of hospital stay and enabling timely return to education, work or occupation and community living.^{72,73,74}

Community rehabilitation is now a crucial part of recovery for those people affected by COVID-19, including those presenting with Long COVID or a deterioration in preexisting conditions and mental health. Effective rehabilitation can reduce the physical, psychological, emotional, social, and economic impacts of the pandemic.⁷⁴



Rehabilitation helps people to live well with long-term conditions. It is known that people from deprived populations are more likely to have multiple long-term conditions⁷⁵, and 17 per cent of the UK population is expected to have four or more chronic conditions by 2035.⁷⁶ People with low incomes and those from minority groups report difficulty accessing support to manage their long-term conditions.⁷⁷ There are known inequalities in access to rehabilitation⁷⁸ and poorer experiences of health services are reported by some social and ethnic groups.⁷⁹ It is necessary to increase the availability of rehabilitation for those in greatest need. The routes to receiving support must be developed in partnership with communities to ensure access is inclusive for the local population reflecting diversity, cultural and personal needs.

In the community, occupational therapists may act individually or within combined allied health professions rehabilitation teams. Occupational therapists within rehabilitation are specialists in:

- Self-management approaches: occupational therapists support people to adopt healthy behaviours and strategies that enable participation in daily life and to achieve outcomes that have meaning for them, and support people with complex needs to overcome barriers to accessing existing opportunities such as social prescribing.
- Personalised care: occupational therapists embed personalised care through training and supervising others, including support workers, informal carers, care home and home care providers.
- Independent living: the profession's understanding and expertise on the relationship between occupations and the environment is pivotal in supporting people to return to living meaningful lives.⁸⁰
- Assistive technology: occupational therapists review care packages and advise on the use of assistive technology to minimise reliance on carers.⁸¹

Key components for delivery

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

- Coproduce multidisciplinary community rehabilitation services that provide support based on needs rather than conditions.
- Provide accessible and timely community rehabilitation for those in greatest need and in the most deprived areas through localities/ place-based services.

- Collaborate across primary, secondary and voluntary sectors.
- Address physical, psychological and social needs holistically, as part of integrated rehabilitation pathways.



Return on investment

- Community rehabilitation can save significant amounts of taxpayer money through early intervention reducing the need for more costly health and social care. It also reduces demand on residential care settings by enabling people to remain safe and well in their own homes. Conversely, without access to community rehabilitation, there is a reduction in quality of life, an increase in the risk of social isolation and greater long-term costs for health and social care budgets.⁷⁸
- Recent research into the cost benefits of rehabilitation in complex cases has shown that lack of investment in rehabilitation and patient support during the first year after hospital discharge increases costs to the NHS in the longer term. Failure to provide rehabilitation and support services in the first year (on average £4.1k per patient) leads to increased dependency and excess care and accommodation costs (on average £14.6k). This would suggest that investment in community rehabilitation services could save the NHS money to the tune of approximately £10k per patient, per year.⁸²
- Community rehabilitation reduces hospital admissions⁸³ and demands on primary care by enabling people to manage their

conditions and prevent deterioration in their health. Where hospital care is required, early community rehabilitation can reduce the length of admission.⁸⁴ and therefore the cost.

 Research from the Health Foundation estimates that if people who feel least able to manage their long-term conditions were supported to manage them as well as those who feel most able, 436,000 emergency admissions and 690,000 A&E attendances could be avoided each year.⁸⁵

Case Study

Occupational Therapy Services, Glasgow City Health and Social Care

Traditional service structures employ occupational therapists in either health or social care. The creation of Glasgow City Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) meant occupational therapy staff came under one partnership and this offered the opportunity to review how occupational therapists worked.

Awareness

A key ambition is to ensure rehabilitation is available for people that require it, regardless of the care group they are in. To reduce hand overs between occupational therapists, duplication of assessment and waits for different occupational therapy services; occupational therapists need to use all the skills they had at the point of registration in addition to other specialist skills they may develop such as assessment for major adaptations and brief mental health interventions.

Action

A competency-based model was developed for occupational therapists working across the teams. These were based on the knowledge that all occupational therapists graduate with a common level of knowledge. The "green" competencies could be done by anyone, the "red" competencies remained very specialist but most work was focused on the "amber" tasks to ensure these areas become "green".



Advocacy

The model is now rolling out to include more care groups, such as learning disabilities, addictions and homecare. These populations have previously limited access to rehabilitation as either viewed as having limited rehabilitation potential or requiring a specialist service. Evaluation of peoples experience of the service is used to review and develop the model and its roll out.

Outcomes

Rehabilitation is offered at the right time and place and by the right person. Occupational therapists can maintain and support the care, assessment, and outcomes for an individual, where previously a person was referred to another occupational therapist based in a different part of the service. The service is widening access to occupational therapy, with shorter waiting times and fewer staff involved. An Occupational Therapy Continuous Improvement Group has been established to take forward the findings of an evaluation of staff experience of the core competency work and use case study analysis for ongoing review

Community mental health



Mental health problems can influence education, development, employment and physical health. Early intervention is vital in providing effective support and better recovery outcomes. Occupational therapists are leading in innovative mental health service design to reduce the pressure on primary care and ensure timely interventions.⁸⁶

Marginalised people experience a 'triple barrier' regarding their mental health needs, with higher rates of mental health problems, difficulty in accessing services and a poor experience of mental health interventions. Gradients of social disadvantage correlate to much poorer mental health outcomes.

Occupational therapists are a significant part of the mental health workforce in the UK. Approximately a third of all occupational therapists are embedded in statutory mental health services across the lifespan. By focusing on social justice, lived experience, access and joining up services, meaningful change can be created.⁸⁷

Being able to access local and communityfocused mental health support from occupational therapists is crucial. Occupational therapists can offer bespoke mental health interventions where required, in the context of care pathways which are co-produced and codelivered with people who use services. Barriers to meeting mental health needs such as drawnout referral processes should be addressed with flexible access such as self-referral and advice clinics. Occupational therapists can also offer advice and consultation across wider services, shaping multi-agency and flexible services around occupational needs rather than mental health diagnosis.

Occupational therapists:

 Are uniquely trained to address both mental and physical health working across all ages and at all stages of people's mental health recovery.

- Address employment and education needs

 collaborating with occupational health services, employers and education providers to support and maintain good mental health.
- Improve the physical health of people with mental health problems, incorporating and promoting healthy occupations.
- Work with people that are underserved by health and social care services, such as those experiencing homelessness, to offer tailored mental health support.
- Help to create services that are informed by lived experience and focused on functional benefit. This translates interventions into meaningful change in the person's everyday life, ensuring their personal goals are achieved.
- Work with communities to build social environments that facilitate positive relationships, confidence, and healthy routines for occupational participation.

Key components for delivery

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

- Provide tailored access points to early occupational therapy intervention and advice across statutory and voluntary organisations, particularly for people facing multiple barriers.
- Address employment needs for people with mental health problems and their employers.
- Inform decision-makers in statutory and voluntary services at a local strategic level, to shape and focus services for greater impact.
- Offer training in life skills for those at risk of becoming or already part of the criminal justice system.
- Participate in local strategy and service planning to address mental health inequalities, focusing on early intervention and positive changes in everyday lives that will gain better outcomes.
- Improve engagement, empowerment, and recovery for, and understanding of, marginalised people with mental ill health.



Return on investment

- Improvement in mental health leads to better attendance and engagement with education, with the ongoing benefits which that brings. This tends to go hand in hand with positive lifestyle changes such as healthy eating and exercise. People who experience this are less likely to require ongoing input from GPs and long-term mental health services.⁸⁸
- Stress, anxiety and depression are responsible for almost half of working days lost in Britain each year⁸⁹. Individual therapy such as stress management offers a 3:1 return on investment. Vocational rehabilitation for people with poor mental health and support for employers increases work attendance and confidence, with resulting personal, organisational and economic benefits.⁹⁰

Case study

Tackling inequalities experienced by people with autism, Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Autism is a lifelong neurodevelopmental condition. Most autistic people do not have a diagnosis, which calls for greater awareness and recognition in healthcare settings. Autistic people can present to any mental or physical health service with a co-occurring condition. Often teams do not feel confident in knowing what reasonable adjustments may be helpful in supporting a person to access or engage in an intervention.

Autistic people are more vulnerable to a range of co-occurring physical and mental health conditions yet getting the best treatment for them can be hampered by differences in communication, social interaction, and presentation as well as help-seeking behaviours, which can lead to secondary conditions and premature death.⁹¹

Awareness

Approximately 80 per cent of autistic people experience mental health problems.⁹² Improved recognition of autism and use of reasonable adjustments to make mental health services more accessible and effective can improve health outcomes and reduce the significant health inequalities faced by autistic people.

Action

The Autism Service at Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust has been co-designed to provide diagnostic and postdiagnostic support to autistic people and their supporters across Cheshire and Wirral. The occupational therapist worked with autistic people, their families, colleagues and commissioners to co-design and develop a predominantly occupational therapy/psychiatry diagnostic and post-diagnostic adult autism service, recognising the importance of making every contact count within the resources available.

The service provides practical recommendations and specific strategies to improve a person's ability and confidence to function day to day, manage their stress and their vulnerability to mental illness. The occupational therapist works with people to clearly articulate specific reasonable adjustments to reduce any distress caused through misunderstandings and misinterpretations and to support them to engage in health interventions, employment and education. These reasonable adjustments are clearly noted on a person's electronic health record and are shared with their GP.

Advocacy

Outcomes:

- Mental health teams in the trust report being more autism-informed in their interactions, providing a better patient experience with improved care and outcomes.
- These experiences have been fed into national policy and practice⁹³, supporting services across the country, ensuring that the needs of autistic people are not overlooked and health inequalities for autistic people are addressed.

Criminal justice system



Place-based systems of care take responsibility for all people living within a given area, bringing organisations together around the population they serve.⁹⁴ An example of this is occupational therapists working within prison services.

People who are incarcerated or detained, from young offenders through to those serving longer sentences, can have complex health and care needs. They have the right to health and wellbeing⁹⁵ and should have access to good integrated health and care support^{.96}

Occupational therapy offers a valuable contribution to working with the general prison population (many of whom may have experienced occupational deprivation during their life due to social, economic and environmental factors) as part of a 'whole prisons approach' in which the wider determinants of health are addressed. Interventions might include:

- health promotion activities,
- life skills programmes,
- interventions to help people who are incarcerated or detained gain insight into lifestyle choices and that promote prosocial behaviour; and
- helping prepare for re-integration into the community, including through educational and vocational rehabilitation programmes.

Occupational therapists also work in partnership with prison services to identify and address an individual's health, care and environmental needs, as well as risk factors, particularly for those with additional needs due to mental or physical ill-health or learning disabilities.⁹⁷

Key components for delivery

Establish and support occupational therapists where they can:

 Work with prison offender managers/ resettlement officers to design effective interventions to support individuals to take up opportunities within the prison and post release.

- Advise on design of prison facilities to encourage productive engagement and accessibility.
- Meet the legislative requirements for the assessment of social care needs in prisons and approved premises.^{98,99}

Return on investment

Occupational therapy within prison services aims to equip people with the life skills that they may not have gained earlier in life. Intervention prevents reoffending by building in protective factors such as thinking and decision-making skills, using a person's strengths and developing a positive sense of identity, which leads to greater resilience both during and after a prison sentence.

Case study

HMP - Cardiff

Introduction

The mental health team within HMP Cardiff provides assessment, care and treatment for those in custody that require input from either primary or secondary care services. The occupational therapy team have a clear mission statement of encouraging and facilitating occupational engagement in an environment of occupational deprivation.

Awareness

During the COVID-19 pandemic those being newly received into custody needed to isolate for fourteen days before they could mix with the rest of the population. The occupational therapy service realised it would need to change practices to ensure that activities and input were available to this group to manage the excessive time confined to their cells.

Action

The service produced temporary isolation care plan templates. The care plan included their wishes about how they would like to maintain contact with the service during isolation as well as what resources could be provided to ensure that they could engage in activity while isolated. Additional help was provided for those with known literacy issues and those who were unlikely to return the forms independently. The occupational therapists also produced a 'Things to do when isolating' booklet that included activity ideas, relaxation and breathing techniques, self care and hygiene tips. The prison print shop produced booklets so they were available on all wings. The booklet was available with a mixture of pictorial activities and text to reflect varying levels of literacy. All individuals on our caseload had either an individualised care plan or one to one discussion around their needs in which resources for in cell activities were discussed and provided.

Advocacy

The work increased the service's understanding of the realities of being housed in such a small and restrictive environment without access to a wider range of options to occupy mind and your body. By listening to the experience of people who previously had periods of isolation, the occupational therapists had a much clearer narrative of the impact and experience of this.

The outcomes of these temporary care plans were shared with all those in the team that were working with the individual to widen knowledge throughout the prison.



Outcomes

- Support was informed by people with lived experience. New people entering the system had tailored activities during the isolation period.
- The isolation pack was shared with other services on forums.
- The 'Things to do when isolating' booklet can be adapted and continue to be of used post Covid-19 isolation regulations given that our population spend so much time in their cells.

Conclusion

History seems to demonstrate that times of national crisis can lead to developments and system changes for the better for people, societies and countries. When 'Necessity is the mother of invention', crises can be a force for co-operation, creative thinking and positive change, with increased resilience and preparedness should a similar event happen again.¹⁰¹

Health inequalities are unfair and unjust, particularly when poor health itself is the result of factors that can be changed, such as access to education, work or suitable housing. Interventions to reduce health inequalities are cost effective, not just in reducing longer term health or social care costs, but also in reducing the social and community costs, such as harmful behaviour or substance misuse.

The Royal College of Occupational Therapists is calling for decision-makers, service leaders and practitioners across all sectors to co-operate, working with their local communities, to re-imagine services in a way that will help to improve health inequalities and health outcomes for everyone across the UK. Occupational therapists have the skills and motivation, are based in the right places, they just require the opportunities to drive this system change.

For more information contact: public.affairs@rcot.co.uk

Contributors

RCOT would like to thank the following for contributing to the content and development of the report:

Henny Pearmain, DipCOT, Freelance Writer

Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol/Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board

London Borough of Tower Hamlets

Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol Bae Abertawe/Swansea Bay University Health Board

Glasgow City Health and Social Care Partnership

Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

HMP Caerdydd/HMP Cardiff

RCOT Rehabilitation Groups for England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales

RCOT Publications Group

References

- 1. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021) Equality, diversity and inclusion. London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/equality-diversity-and-inclusion
- 2. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Herd E, Morrison J (2020). Build back fairer: the COVID-19 Marmot review. The pandemic, socioeconomic and health inequalities in England. London: Institute of Health Equity. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/ Build-back-fairer-the-COVID-19-Marmot-review.pdf
- 3. Public Health England (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability. London: PHE. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/731682/Reducing_health_inequalities_system_scale_and_ sustainability.pdf
- 4. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M, Geddes I (2010) Fair society healthy lives: the Marmot review strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: The Marmot Review. Available at: https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/documents/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report.pdf
- 5. Campos-Matos I, Newton J, Doyle Y (2020) Public health matters blog an opportunity to address inequalities learning from the first months of the covid-19 pandemic. London: Public Health England. Available at: https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2020/10/29/an-opportunity-to-address-inequalities-learning-from-the-first-months-of-the-covid-19-pandemic/
- 6. Suleman M, Sonthalia S, Webb C, Tinson A, Kane M, Bunbury S...Bibby J. (2021) Unequal pandemic, fairer recovery. The COVID-19 impact inquiry report. London: The Health Foundation. Available at: https://reader.health.org.uk/unequal-pandemic-fairer-recovery/the-pandemic-s-implications-for-wider-health-and-wellbeing#access-to-health-care-services-for-non-covid-19-conditions
- 7. Public Health England (2017) Reducing health inequalities: system, scale and sustainability. London: PHE. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/731682/Reducing_health_inequalities_system_scale_and_ sustainability.pdf

- 8. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M, Geddes I (2010) Fair society healthy lives: the Marmot review strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: The Marmot Review. Available at: https://www.parliament.uk/globalassets/documents/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report.pdf
- 9. NHS Health Scotland (2015) Health inequalities: What are they? How do we reduce them? Glasgow: NHS Health Scotland. Available at: http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1086/ health-inequalities-what-are-they-how-do-we-reduce-them-mar16.pdf
- 10. Public Health Wales [n.d.] Long term strategy 2018-30. Working to achieve a healthier future for Wales: influencing the wider determinants of health. Cardiff: Public Health Wales. Available at: https://phw.nhs.wales/about-us/our-priorities/influencing-the-wider-determinants/
- 11. Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety (2014) Making life better: a whole system strategic framework for public health 2013-2023. Belfast: DHSSPSNI. Available at: https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/dhssps/making-life-better-strategic-framework-2013-2023_0.pdf
- 12. World Health Organization (2018) Health inequities and their causes. Geneva: WHO. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/detail/health-inequities-and-their-causes
- Britain Thinks; The Richmond Group of Charities (2021) Attitudes towards and experiences of the NHS during Covid-19: views from patients, professionals and the public. Phase 3 (May – June 2021). London: Britain Thinks. Available at: https://britainthinks.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/ Richmond-Group_Phase-3-report_Final-1.pdf
- 14. World Health Organization (1946) Constitution of the World Health Organization. Geneva: WHO. Available at: https://www.who.int/governance/eb/who_constitution_en.pdf
- 15. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021) AHP health inequalities framework launched. London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/news/ahp-health-inequalities-frameworklaunched
- 16. Department of Health and Social Care (2021) The NHS constitution for England. London: DHSC. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/ the-nhs-constitution-for-england
- 17. Department of Health and Social Care (2021) Care and support statutory guidance. London: DHSC. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
- 18. Scottish Government (2019) The charter of patient rights and responsibilities. Edinburgh: Scottish Government. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/charter-patient-rights-responsibilities-2/pages/1/
- 19. NHS Wales (2016) The core principles of NHS Wales. Cardiff: NHS Wales. Available at: https://www.wales.nhs.uk/nhswalesaboutus/thecoreprinciplesofnhswales
- 20. NHS Wales (2015) Health and care standards. Cardiff: Welsh Government. Available at: https://gov. wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/health-and-care-standards-april-2015.pdf
- 21. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2017) Occupational therapy within prison services. (Occupational Therapy Evidence Factsheet). London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/sites/default/files/Occupational%20therapy%20within%20prison%20services.pdf
- 22. Bank of England Monetary Policy Committee (2021) Monetary policy report May 2021. London: Bank of England. (Page 28). Available at: https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/ monetary-policy-report/2021/may/monetary-policy-report-may-2021.pdf

- 23. Public Health England (2020) Beyond the data: understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups. London: PHE Publications. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_ beyond_the_data.pdf
- 24. Welsh Parliament. Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee (2020) Into sharp relief: inequality and the pandemic. Cardiff: Welsh Parliament. Available at:26. https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13403/cr-ld13403-e.pdf
- 25.. Priestly A (2021) Health inequality and COVID-19 in Scotland. (SPICe Briefing). Edinburgh: The Scottish Parliament Information Centre. Available at: https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2021/3/23/ee202c60-93ad-4a27-a6e7-67613856ba24/SB%2021-22.pdf
- 26. Great Britain. Parliament (2010) Equality Act 2010. Section 4. London: Stationery Office. Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/4
- 27. Public Health England (2021) Place-based approaches for reducing health inequalities: main report. London: PHE Publications. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthinequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-forreducing-health-inequalities-main-report
- 28. Glasgow Centre for Population Health (2011) Asset based approaches for health improvement: redressing the balance. (Briefing Paper 9 Concepts Series). Glasgow: Glasgow Centre for Population Health. Available at: https://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/2627/GCPH_Briefing_Paper_ CS9web.pdf
- 29. Chief Medical Officer for Scotland (2021) Recover, restore, renew. Chief Medical Officer for Scotland annual review 2020-2021. Edinburgh: NHS Scotland. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/ content/documents/govscot/publications/corporate-report/2021/03/cmo-annual-report-2020-21/ documents/chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2020-2021/chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2020-2021/govscot%3Adocument/chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2020-2021.pdf
- 30. NI Department of Health (2016) Health and wellbeing 2026: delivering together. Belfast: Department of Health NI. Available at: https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/ health/health-and-wellbeing-2026-delivering-together.pdf
- 31. Selbie D (2019) Foreword. In: Public Health England. PHE strategy 2020-25. London: PHE Publications. (Page 3). Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/831562/PHE_Strategy_2020-25.pdf
- 32. Ford J, Aquino MRJ, Ojo-Aromokudu O, Van Daalen K, Gkiouleka A, Kuhn I...Strudwick R (2021) Rapid review of the impact of allied health professionals on health inequalities. Cambridge: University of Cambridge. Available at: https://www.phpc.cam.ac.uk/pcu/files/2021/05/AHP-and-Inequalities-Final-Version-V2.0.pdf
- Allied Health Professions Federation (2019) UK Allied health professions public health strategic framework 2019-2024. London: AHPF. Available at: http://www.ahpf.org.uk/files/UK%20AHP%20 Public%20Health%20Strategic%20Framework%202019-2024.pdf
- 34. The King's Fund (2021) My role in tackling health inequalities: a framework for allied health professionals. London: King's Fund. Available at https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/tackling-health-inequalities-framework-allied-health-professionals

- 35. Public Health England (2015) The role of allied health professionals in public health examples of interventions delivered by allied health professionals that improve the publics' health. London: PHE Publications. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/769042/Mapping_the_Evidence_of_impact_of_allied_health_professionals_on_public_health.pdf
- 36. Kemp P, Bradshaw J, Dornan P, Finch N, Mayhew E (2004) Routes out of poverty. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/routes-out-poverty
- 37. Royal College of General Practitioners (2015) Health inequalities policy paper. London: RCGP. Available at: https://www.rcgp.org.uk/policy/rcgp-policy-areas/health-inequalities.aspx
- 38. Department of Public Health and Primary Care, University of Cambridge (2021) What can primary care do about health inequalities? Cambridge: University of Cambridge. Available at: https://www.phpc.cam.ac.uk/pcu/what-can-primary-care-do-about-health-inequalities/
- 39. National Health Service England (2018) Improving access for all: reducing inequalities in access to general practice services. London: NHS England. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ publication/improving-access-for-all-reducing-inequalities-in-access-to-general-practice-services/
- 40. Clarke L, Shah-Hall M (2018) Making a contribution occupational therapy in primary care. Occupational Therapy News Vol 26 8:18-20. Available at: https://viewer.joomag.com/occupationaltherapy-news-otnews-august-2018/0458107001533892620?short&
- 41. Health Education England (2021) Roadmap to Practice for First Contact Practitioners and Advanced Practitioner Occupational Therapists in Primary Care. London: HEE. Available at: Roadmaps to Practice | Health Education England (hee.nhs.uk)
- 42. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2018) Getting my life back: occupational therapy promoting mental health and wellbeing in England. London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot. co.uk/promoting-occupational-therapy/occupationaltherapy-improving-lives-saving-money
- 43. Schoon I, Barnes M, Brown V, Parsons S, Ross A, Vignoles A (2012) Intergenerational transmission of worklessness: evidence from the millennium cohort and the longitudinal study of young people in England. London: Department for Education. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/183328/DFE-RR234.pdf
- 44. Allied Health Professions Federation (2019) The AHP health and work report. London: AHPF. Available at: http://www.ahpf.org.uk/AHP_Health_and_Work_Report.htm
- 45. North Wales Social Care and Well-being Improvement Collaborative (2017) North Wales Population Assessment 2017. Ruthin: North Wales Social Care and Well-being Improvement Collaborative. Available at: https://www.northwalescollaborative.wales/north-wales-populationassessment/north-wales-population-assessment-2017/
- 46. Foran A, Williams H (2020) Occupational Therapy in Primary Care During Covid-19: A review of innovative practice during COVID-19. (unpublished)
- 47. Personal Social Services Research Unit (2020) Unit costs of health and social care 2020. Canterbury: PSSRU. Available at: https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/uc/uc2020/2-communityhcstaff.pdf
- 48. Public Health England (2017) Making the economic case for prevention. London: PHE. Available at: https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2017/09/06/making-the-economic-case-for-prevention/

- 49. Public Health England (2017) PHE highlights 8 ways for local areas to prevent mental ill health. London: PHE. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/phe-highlights-8-ways-for-localareas-to-prevent-mental-ill-health
- 50. Brooks R, Milligan J, White A (2017) Sustainability and transformation plans: occupational therapists and physiotherapists can support GPs. British Journal of General Practice. 67(664). 525-526. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp17X693413
- 51. Centre for Ageing Better (2021) Good homes for all: a proposal to fix England's Housing. London: Centre for Better Ageing. Available at: https://ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-09/ good-homes-for-all-a-proposal.pdf
- 52. Town and Country Planning Association (2020) The Healthy Homes Bill: a bill that transforms the regulation of the built environment to ensure that new homes and neighbourhoods support their residents' health and wellbeing. London: TCPA. Available at: https://www.tcpa.org.uk/Handlers/ Download.ashx?IDMF=3ecf26b8-a418-4bae-83d2-3ec1b624d3e6
- 53. Scottish Government (2021) Housing to 2040: fairer Scotland duty. Edinburgh: Scottish Government. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/housing-to-2040-fairer-scotland-duty/
- 54. Nottingham Trent University (2020) 'Dramatic' change needed for UK homes to meet climate targets, study shows. Nottingham: Nottingham Trent University. Available at: https://www.ntu.ac.uk/ about-us/news/news-articles/2020/07/dramatic-change-needed-for-uk-homes-to-meet-climate-targets,-study-shows
- 55. Habinteg (2020) Forecast for accessible homes 2020. (Briefing). Bradford: Habinteg. Available at: https://www.habinteg.org.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n2829.pdf&ver=3554
- 56. HM Government (2021) National disability strategy. London: Stationary Office. Available at: https:// assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/1006098/National-Disability-Strategy_web-accesible-pdf.pdf
- 57. Shelter (2006) Chance of a lifetime. The impact of bad housing on children's lives. London: Shelter. Available at: https://assets.ctfassets. net/6sxvmndnpn0s/4LTXp3mya7ligRmNG8x9KK/6922b5a4c6ea756ea94da71ebdc001a5/ Chance_of_a_Lifetime.pdf
- 58. Housing LIN [n.d.] Occupational therapists: helping to get the housing design right. London: Housing LIN. Available at: https://www.housinglin.org.uk/Topics/browse/Design-building/ occupational-therapy/
- 59. The Housing and Ageing Alliance (2019) Time for action. Available at: https://www.housinglin.org. uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/HAA/Housing-Ageing-Alliance-Manifesto-2019.pdf
- 60. Public Health England (2018) A return on investment tool for the assessment of falls prevention programmes for older people living in the community. London: PHE Publications. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/falls-prevention-cost-effective-commissioning
- 61. London Borough of Tower Hamlets (2016) London Borough of Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy: Building new homes and communities in Tower Hamlets. London: London Borough of Tower Hamlets. Available at: https://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/Documents/Housing/TH_Housing_ Strategy_document.pdf
- 62. Public Health Scotland (2021) Child poverty overview. Edinburgh: Public Health Scotland. Available at: http://www.healthscotland.scot/population-groups/children/child-poverty/child-poverty-overview/impact-of-child-poverty

- 63. The King's Fund (2017) Healthy schools and pupils. London: The King's Fund. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/improving-publics-health/healthy-schools-and-pupils
- 64. Crenna-Jennings W (2018) Key drivers of the disadvantage gap: literature review. Education in England: annual report 2018. London: Education Policy Institute. Available at: https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/EPI-Annual-Report-2018-Lit-review.pdf
- 65. Office for National Statistics (2017) An overview of lifestyles and wider characteristics linked to healthy life expectancy in England: June 2017. London: ONS. at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/ peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/articles/
- 66. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2019) Occupational therapy for children and young people. London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/occupational-therapy-children-and-young-people
- 67. Timpson E (2019) Timpson review of school exclusion. London: Department for Education. Available https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_ data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
- 68. Ministry of Justice; Department for Education (2016) Understanding the educational background of young offenders. London: Ministry of Justice. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/577542/understanding-educational-background-of-young-offenders-full-report.pdf
- 69. Public Health England; UCL Institute of Health Equity (2014) Local action on health inequalities: Understanding the economics of investment in social determinants of health. (Health Equity Briefing 9 September 2014). London: PHE Publications. Available at: https://www.instituteofhealthequity. org/resources-reports/local-action-on-health-inequalities-understanding-the-economics-ofinvestments-in-the-social-determinants-of-health-/local-action-on-health-inequalitiesunderstanding-the-economics-of-investments-in-the-social-determinants-of-health.
- 70. World Health Organization; The World Bank (2011) World report on disability. Geneva: WHO. Available at: https://www.who.int/disabilities/world_report/2011/report.pdf
- 71. United Nations (2006) Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities (CRPD). New York: UN. Available at: https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html
- 72. Bradley A, Marshall A, Stonehewer L, Reaper L, Parker K, Bevan-Smith E...Naidu B (2013) Pulmonary rehabilitation programme for patients undergoing curative lung cancer surgery. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, 44(4), 266-71.
- 73 Welsh Government (2021) Rehabilitation: a framework for continuity and recovery 2020 to 2021. A framework to help organisations plan rehabilitation services following the coronavirus pandemic. Cardiff: Welsh Government. Available at: https://gov.wales/rehabilitation-framework-continuity-and-recovery-2020-2021-html
- 74. Scottish Government (2020) Framework for supporting people through recovery and rehabilitation during and after the COVID-19 pandemic. Section 9. Edinburgh: Scottish Government. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/framework-supporting-people-through-recovery-rehabilitation-during-covid-19-pandemic/pages/9/
- 75. The King's Fund (2019) Long-term conditions and multi-morbidity. London: The King's Fund. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-disease-anddisability-long-term-conditions-multi-morbidity
- 76. Pearson-Stuttard, J, Ezzati M, Gregg EW (2019) Multimorbidity a defining challenge for health systems. The Lancet, 4(12), E599-E600.

- 77. The Richmond Group of Charities (2021) You only had to ask: what people with multiple conditions say about health equity. London: The Richmond Group of Charities. Available at: https://richmondgroupofcharities.org.uk/sites/default/files/youonlyhadtoask_fullreport_july2021_final.pdf
- 78. Community Rehab Alliance Is this correct as the author? Or should the authors be: Chartered Society of Physiotherapy; Royal College of Occupational Therapists; Sue Ryder (2020) Community rehabilitation: Live well for longer. London: CSP. Available at: https://www.csp.org.uk/system/files/publication_files/Right%20To%20Rehab%20Report%2C%20February%202020%20-%20web.pdf
- 79. The King's Fund (2020) What are health inequalities? London: The King's Fund. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-are-health-inequalities#access
- 80. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2019) Rehabilitation. London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/practice-resources/occupational-therapy-topics/rehabilitation
- 81. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2019) Relieving the pressure on social care: the value of occupational therapy. RCOT: London. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/promoting-occupational-therapy/occupational-therapy-improving-lives-saving-money
- 82. King's College London (2021) Specialist rehabilitation: focus services early to transform lives and save money: London: King's College London News Centre. Available at: https://www.kcl.ac.uk/news/spotlight/specialist-rehabilitation-focus-services-early-to-transform-lives-and-save-the-nhs-money
- 83. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2018) Emergency and acute medical care in over 16s: service delivery and organisation. Chapter 13 community rehabilitation. (NICE guideline 94). London: NICE. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng94/evidence/13.community-rehabilitation-pdf-172397464600
- 84. Neuburger J, Harding KA, Bradley RJD, Cromwell DA, Gregson CL (2014) Variation in access to community rehabilitation services and length of stay in hospital following a hip fracture: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open, 4(9). Available at: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/9/e005469
- 85. Deeny S, Thorlby R, Steventon A, (2018) Reducing emergency admissions: unlocking the potential of people to better manage their long-term conditions. London: The Health Foundation. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reducing-emergency-admissions-unlocking-the-potential-of-people-to-better-manage-their-long-term-conditions
- 86 Connolly D, Anderson M, Colgan M. Montgomery J, Clarke J, Kinsella M. (2018) The impact of a primary care stress management and wellbeing programme (RENEW) on occupational participation: A pilot study. British Journal of Occupational Therapy Volume: 82 issue: 2, 112-121. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022618793323
- 87. Pinfold V (2021) The unequal mental health toll of the pandemic. London: The Health Foundation. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/the-unequal-mental-health-toll-of-the-pandemic
- 88. Chamberlain E, Truman J, Scallan S, Pike A, Lyon-Maris J. (2019) Occupational therapy in primary care: exploring the role of occupational therapy from a primary care perspective. British Journal of General Practice 2019; 69 (688): 575-576 DOI: https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp19X706517
- 89. Health and Safety Executive (2019). Health and safety at work: summary statistics for Great Britain 2019. London: HSE. Available at: https://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/overall/hssh1819.pdf
- 90. Deloitte (2020) Mental health and employers: refreshing the case for investment. London: Deloitte. Available at: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/consultancy/deloitte-uk-mental-health-and-employers.pdf

- Camm-Crosbie L, Bradley L, Shaw R, Baron-Cohen S Cassidy S (2019) 'People like me don't get support': Autistic adults' experiences of support and treatment for mental health difficulties, self-injury and suicidality. Autism, Volume: 23 issue: 6, 1431-1441. Available at: 10.1177/1362361318816053
- 92. Harper G (2020) Covid-19 is widening the inequalities faced by autistic people but this is not inevitable. London: Centre for Mental Health. Available at: https://www.centreformentalhealth.org. uk/blogs/covid-19-widening-inequalities-faced-autistic-people-not-inevitable
- 93. Department for Education and Department for Health and Social Care (2021) Policy paper: The national strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021 to 2026. London: DfE/DHSC. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026/the-national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
- 94. The King's Fund (2021) Developing place-based partnerships: the foundation of effective integrated care teams. London: The King's Fund. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-04/developing-place-based-partnerships.pdf
- 95. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (2013) Good governance for prison health in the 21st century: a policy brief on the organization of prison health. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Available at: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/ pdf_file/0017/231506/Good-governance-for-prison-health-in-the-21st-century.pdf
- 96. Department of Health and Social Care (2021) Care and support statutory guidance. London: DHSC. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
- 97. Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2017) Occupational therapy within prison services. (Occupational Therapy Evidence Factsheet). London: RCOT. Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/ sites/default/files/Occupational%20therapy%20within%20prison%20services.pdf
- 98. Great Britain. Parliament (2014) Care Act 2014. London: Stationery Office. Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents
- 99. Welsh Government (2014) Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.Cardiff: Welsh Government. Available at: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-the-essentials.pdf
- 100. Great Britain: Parliament. The Mental Health Act 1983). London: Stationery Office. Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
- 101. Langan-Riekhof, Avanni AB and Janetti A (2017) Sometimes the world needs a crisis: turning challenges into opportunities. Washington DC: Brookings Institution. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/research/sometimes-the-world-needs-a-crisis-turning-challenges-into-opportunities/

rcot.co.uk

© 2021 Royal College of Occupational Therapists. A registered charity in England and Wales (No. 275119) and in Scotland (No. SCO39573) and a company registered in England (No. 1347374)